IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-122

NORMAN GRIM,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BRODY & HAZEN, P.A. Attorneys at Law P.O. Box 16515 Tallahassee, FL 32317

JEFFREY M. HAZEN Florida Bar No. 0153060

HARRY BRODY Florida Bar No. 0977860

Attorneys for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 16, 1999, Mr. Grim was indicted by a Santa Rosa County Grand Jury for one count each of first-degree murder and sexual battery (R. 9-12). On November 1, 2000, a jury found Mr. Grim guilty of all charges (R. 219). The next day, that same jury recommended death by a vote of 12-0 (R. 2120). Subsequent to the jury=s recommendation, the trial court sentenced Mr. Grim to death on December 21, 2000 (R. 235-48).

Mr. Grim timely sought direct appeal to this Court. This Court affirmed Mr. Grim's convictions and death sentence. <u>Grim</u> <u>v. State</u>, 841 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 2003). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. <u>Grim v. Florida</u>, 122 S. Ct. 230 (2003).

Mr. Grim filed his initial post-conviction motion on October 5, 2004 (PC-R. 1-78). A $Huff^1$ hearing was held in the matter on January 31, 2005 (PC-R. 85-86). On February 8, 2005 the lower court entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing on the factual claims asserted in Mr. Grim's post-conviction motion (PC-R. 87-88). An evidentiary hearing was held in this matter on April 14-15, 2005.² The evidentiary hearing was

¹Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993)

²At the evidentiary hearing, Micheal Rollo, Mr. Grim's penaltyphase counsel at trial, was the last witness called to testify.

continued and completed on September 1, 2005. After the hearing, both Mr. Grim and the state submitted written closing arguments (PC-R. 151-85). The lower court denied all relief on December 20, 2005 (PC-R. 186-215). This appeal follows.

II. STATEMENT OF THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS

Dr. James Larson was admitted as an expert in forensic psychology (EHT. 11). Dr. Larson stated that he has testified in over fifty death penalty cases (Id.). Dr. Larson was contacted by attorney Michael Rollo in March 2000, regarding his potential involvement in the instant case (EHT. 12). Dr. Larson interviewed Mr. Grim on April 4, 2000, and followed that up with psychological testing on April 11, 2000 (EHT. 13). Dr. Larson reviewed "basic discovery" (Id.). Dr. Larson testified that he reviewed Mr. Grim's psychological treatment records from Avalon Center (Id.). The records revealed that Mr. Grim voluntarily sought treatment at Avalon Center for anger management (EHT.

Rollo brought to the stand with him his files from the case. Rollo asserted that he had recently discovered the files only one month prior to the hearing. Further, Rollo asserted that he was not compelled to disclose the files despite being requested to do so by undersigned counsel. Undersigned counsel moved the court to compel disclosure of the files, suspend the hearing, and allow for amendment of Mr. Grim's post-conviction motion with any claims emanating from the previously withheld files. The lower court suspended the hearing, ordered the files disclosed, and allowed for amendment. After receiving and reviewing the files, undersigned counsel notified Judge Rasmussen that he would not be amending the motion. The lower court then set the continuation of the evidentiary hearing. (PC-R. 150)

14). The records revealed that Mr. Grim was evaluated by Dr. Gushwa whom Dr. Larson considers a "very good evaluator" and "good with medications" (Id.). The records also revealed that Dr. Gushwa diagnosed Mr. Grim with intermittent explosive disorder and anti-social personality disorder (EHT. 14-15). Intermittent Explosive Disorder is a mental illness and is often related to brain damage or exposure to violence as a child (EHT. 29, 38). Dr. Larson agreed with Dr. Gushwa's diagnosis (EHT. 29). Dr. Larson added that, in his opinion, Mr. Grim would not meet the criteria for the "extreme" anti-social personality, or psychopathic personality (EHT. 15-16). Dr. Larson indicated in his testimony that anti-social personalities are the result of either hereditary or environmental factors (EHT. 16-17). Dr. Larson stated that the Avalon records indicated Mr. Grim entered Avalon of his own accord because he was "dissatisfied with his own temper and the way he treated his wife" (EHT. 17-18). Mr. Grim was prescribed, as part of his Avalon treatment, the medications Depakote and Prozac (EHT. 18). Mr. Grim was also abusing alcohol at the time (Id.). When Dr. Larson interviewed Mr. Grim, he found him to be depressed, but not psychotic (EHT. 20). Further, Mr. Grim had been depressed for some time because of marital and economic stressors in his life (Id.). Mr. Grim had a lengthy history of alcohol abuse and experimentation with substances (Id.). Dr. Larson learned that Mr. Grim was a Navy

brat whose parents were divorced when he was eleven (EHT. 21). Mr. Grim's many attempts to contact his father were rebuffed (Id.). Mr. Grim still felt hostile about his father (Id.). Mr. Grim described the unhappiness of his unraveling marriage and the infidelity and dishonesty of his wife (EHT. 22). Dr. Larson stated that Mr. Grim understood Larson to be a mitigation expert and was not enthusiastic about this (EHT. 23). Dr. Larson stated that he felt that Mr. Grim's answers were abbreviated because of this, especially regarding "deprivations in childhood and dysfunctional family" (EHT. 24). Mr. Grim had been to prison before and did not want to go back (EHT. 23). Mr. Grim had an adequate understanding of mitigation and aggravation (EHT. 24-25). There was no evidence that Mr. Grim was "malingering" (EHT. 25). Mr. Grim did not refuse to answer any questions (EHT. 43). Dr. Larson administered an I.Q. test, the WAIS III, which revealed the likelihood of organic brain damage (EHT. 26). Dr. Larson stated his opinion that the I.Q. scores were valid (EHT. 27). In terms of the incident in question, Mr. Grim told Dr. Larson that he had been drinking heavily the night before, was very angry at his wife, and that his anger "came out at the wrong person" (EHT. 27-28). Dr. Larson opined that both statutory mental health mitigating factors apply in this case (EHT. 30). Further, Dr. Larson noted this finding in his file at the time of the Grim trial and in a letter to Mr. Grim's

trial attorneys (EHT. 31). Dr. Larson testified additionally that he made recommendations to Mr. Grim's trial attorneys regarding Mr. Grim's use of the prescribed drugs Prozac and Depakote, as well as alcohol (Id.). Dr. Larson discussed a drug-use defense with Mr. Grim's attorneys and recommended to them that they consult with an expert in that field (EHT. 31-32). Dr. Larson did not recall ever speaking with speciallyappointed counsel, Spiro Kypreos, about the Grim case (EHT. 34). Larson would have testified at the <u>Spencer</u>³ hearing if had been asked to do so (Id.). He would have testified to the opinions given at the evidentiary hearing (EHT. 35). Further, Dr. Larson stated that he would "absolutely" defer to an expert in the field as to the effect of prescribed drugs on Mr. Grim's behavior (EHT. 44).

Lipman testified Dr. Jonathan that he is а Neuropharmacologist and that Neuropharmacology is a field that deals with the effects of drugs and chemicals on the brain and behavior (EHT. 46). Dr. Lipman is also an Associate Clinical Professor of Psychiatry at East Tennessee State University (EHT. Neuropharmacologists like Dr. Lipman develop drugs to 47). treat various mental disorders (EHT. 49). Dr. Lipman stated that he was retained by undersigned counsel to work on the instant case (EHT. 53). Dr. Lipman reviewed numerous records

³Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

including court orders, police reports, depositions, the autopsy report, trial testimony, sentencing memoranda, the sentencing order, Mr. Grim's records for prior offenses, the PSI, military records, work records, Dr. Larson's deposition, mental-health records, and crime scene photos (EHT. 55-56). Dr. Lipman testified that the effects of drugs varies between individuals, depending on idiosyncracies, biochemistry, mental illness, and physical illness (EHT. 56). Dr. Lipman stated that the Avalon records were critical to understanding the effects of drugs on Mr. Grim (EHT. 57). Dr. Lipman testified that the diagnosis of Intermittent Explosive Disorder has an older name, Episodic Dyscontrol Syndrome (EHT. 57). Dr. Lipman interviewed Mr. Grim at Union Correctional Institution (Id.). The purpose of the interview was to explore how drugs, both prescribed and illicit, affected Mr. Grim (EHT. 58). Mr. Grim was not malingering (Id.). Dr. Lipman testified that Mr. Grim lived the life of a transient Navy brat with an alcoholic father (Id.). The family relocated many times (EHT. 59). Mr. Grim's father was violent towards him, kicking him in the testicles and punching him in the face, causing Mr. Grim's glasses to be broken (Id.). The incidents of violence all happened when Mr. Grim's father was intoxicated (Id.). Mr. Grim's parents divorced when he was between the sixth and seventh grades (Id.). Mr. Grim first used marijuana at twelve years of age and was using it constantly by

б

age fourteen (EHT. 59-60). Mr. Grim began using alcohol at age thirteen and this became constant by his senior year of high school (EHT. 60). Mr. Grim joined the Navy his senior year of high school and then attended submarine school and sonar-tech training (Id.). Mr. Grim continued to use alcohol and marijuana in the Navy, as well as pharmaceutical amphetamines (Id.). Mr. Grim also used large doses of LSD as often as it was available (Id.). Mr. Grim described alcohol-related difficulties while in the Navy that resulted in his ultimate discharge from the service (EHT. 60-61). Dr. Lipman reviewed the records of Mr. Grim's 1982 offenses in Pensacola and found them "quite remarkable" in that Mr. Grim could not explain why he had committed the offenses for which he was charged (EHT. 62). Mr. Grim served eight years for the 1982 offenses and then violated work release twice due to alcohol and marijuana use (Id.). Mr. Grim's mother was able to document instances of Mr. Grim's alcohol-related explosive violence to Dr. Lipman (EHT. 62-63). Mr. Grim was arrested in 1990 in Temple, Texas, in what was described as a drunken episode of theft (EHT. 63). After incarceration in Texas, Mr. Grim returned to Pensacola (Id.). Mr. Grim began working at Daws Manufacturing and met his future wife, Lynn (Id.). The two were married in 1996 and were married for two years (EHT. 63-64). In two-and-one-half years of marriage, there were only two days when the couple did not drink

to the point of intoxication (EHT. 64). After a drunken episode of violence toward Lynn on Christmas Eve, 1997, Mr. Grim checked himself into Avalon Center on his own initiative (EHT. 64). The treating physician, Dr. Gushwa, prescribed the anti-epileptic drug Depakote (Id.). Depakote is used for grand mal and partial complex seizures (Id.). Later, Mr. Grim was prescribed Prozac (Id.). Dr. Lipman noted that the Depakote seemed to work, as was noted by Dr. Gushwa on July 16, 1998 (Id.). At the time of the offense, Mr. Grim's alcohol use was "prodigious" (EHT. 65). Mr. Grim typically drank ten-to-twelve beers after work on a typical week night and a case of beer and a 1.75 liter bottle of bourbon on weekend days (Id.). Dr. Lipman calculated Mr. Grim's blood-alcohol content at the time of the crime as being twice to four times the legal limit (EHT. 66-68). Mr. Grim would have been demonstrably intoxicated at the time of the crime, "his brain under the influence of large amounts of alcohol" (EHT. 70). Dr. Lipman opined that chronic alcohol use such as engaged in by Mr. Grim causes brain injury with numerous demonstrative symptoms (EHT. 71-72). Mr. Grim's decision-making ability, according to Dr. Lipman, would have been impaired and, further, aggravated by Intermittent Explosive Disorder, which acted in concert with his alcohol impairment (EHT. 71-72). Mr. Grim was impulsive, by diagnosis of IED, which was exacerbated by alcohol use (EHT. 72-73). Impulsive behavior, distinct from compulsive

behavior, is characterized by a lack of forethought (EHT. 72). Mr. Grim was being prescribed Depakote for his IED (EHT. 73). Prozac was prescribed for depression (EHT. 76). Dr. Lipman stated that Depakote "acts on the biochemistry of the brain to blunt electric-like excitability in those parts of the brain that are dysfunctional in explosive dyscontrol syndrome" (EHT. 74). The Depakote seemed to help Mr. Grim (Id.). Dr. Gushwa's notes indicate that he did not believe Mr. Grim had stopped drinking (Id.). Dr. Lipman stated that it would not have been good for Mr. Grim to take Depakote and alcohol together (EHT. 75). Mr. Grim had run out of money at the time of the crime and was rationing his doses of Depakote and Prozac (EHT. 75-76). The effect was that Mr. Grim was weaning himself off of Depakote and Prozac (EHT. 76). However, the Depakote Mr. Grim was taking still would have exacerbated the effects of alcohol, while not having a therapeutic effect on the underlying Intermittent Explosive Disorder (EHT. 77). Dr. Lipman described this as a "sledge hammer effect" (EHT. 92). As to Prozac, Mr. Grim still had the drug in his system at the time of the crime, although not at a therapeutic level, with the result being a re-emergence of the underlying depressive disorder (EHT. 77-78, 89). Dr Lipman opined that there is a biochemical lesion in Mr. Grim's brain that underlies his explosive violence (EHT. 78-79). Dr. Larson's psychological testing supports this conclusion (EHT.

80). Brain-damaged individuals and anti-social individuals suffer greater neurotoxic impairment than non-affected individuals (EHT. 81). Dr. Lipman stated his opinion that, given Mr. Grim's use of alcohol, prescribed drugs, underlying Intermittent Explosive Disorder, and brain damage, Mr. Grim had no intent to commit the crime and that it happened impulsively and without prior thought (EHT. 82). The same is true for Mr. Grim's 1982 crime (Id.). Dr. Lipman further stated that all of the criminal episodes Mr. Grim has been involved in were alcohol related (Id.). Dr. Lipman also stated his opinion that both statutory mental health mitigating factors apply to Mr. Grim (EHT. 83). Dr. Lipman stated that during his interview, Mr. Grim was remorseful, tearful, and visibly shaken about the crime, adding "I see her every day screaming for help" (EHT. 83, 85). Dr. Lipman added on cross-examination that his opinion regarding brain damage is based on Dr. Larson's psychometric testing and the beneficial effects of Depakote (EHT. 87). Further, neuropsychological tests would have added to the opinion (EHT. 88).

John Molchan, the trial prosecutor in this case, testified that the Grim case was probably his eighth, capital prosecution (EHT. 97). Molchan identified Defense Exhibit #2 as a series of documents from the state-attorney file (EHT. 98-99). The documents are a fax transmission sheet and documents indicating

Dr. Michael Berkland's de-licensure in the state of Missouri.⁴ Mr. Molchan testified that he received the documents from the 1st Circuit, State Attorney's Office in Ft. Walton Beach (EHT. 99). Further, he faxed the documents to the Pensacola office because he believed that the documents needed to be seen by Curtis Golden, the elected State Attorney (Id.). Mr. Molchan stated that he may have been aware of Dr. Berkland's troubles prior to receiving documents from the Ft. Walton satellite office, but he could not say so with certainty (Id.). Mr. Molchan recalled discussing the facts of the Missouri troubles with Dr. Berkland (EHT. 100). Mr. Molchan agreed that Dr. Berkland's testimony was important in proving the sexual-battery charge against Mr. Grim (EHT. 101) Mr. Molchan agreed that, other than the physical manner effectuating the homicide, there was no indication that Mr. Grim planned the homicide in question (Id.). Molchan did not have a recollection of providing the Mr. documents in Defense Exhibit #2 to Mr. Grim's trial counsel (EHT. 102). Mr. Molchan testified that he recalled Dr. Berkland being questioned about these facts in his deposition (Id.). The deposition was taken by Assistant Public Defender Toni Stitt who represented Mr. Grim prior to Richard Hill and Michael Rollo (Id.). Mr. Molchan agreed that the information in Defense

⁴Dr. Micheal Berkland, at the time of Mr. Grim's trial, was a medical examiner in the 1st Judicial Circuit and performed an autopsy of the victim in this matter.

Exhibit #2 is more detailed than that in the deposition (EHT. 103). Mr. Molchan testified that in hindsight, the information in Defense Exhibit #2 "probably should have been turned over" (Id.). Mr. Molchan did not recall Mr. Grim's trial counsel impeaching Dr. Berkland with the information contained in Defense Exhibit #2 (EHT. 105). Mr. Molchan did not recall Mr. Grim's trial attorneys seeking to exclude any testimony from Dr. Berkland (Id.).

Mr. Molchan identified a letter from Donald Ramsey to Assistant State Attorney Julie Edwards (EHT. 107). The document was admitted as Defense Exhibit #4 (EHT. 108). Mr. Molchan stated that the letter is a document that he would normally disclose to defense counsel (Id.).

Mr. Molchan also identified a document from the stateattorney file that was admitted as Defense Exhibit #5 (EHT. 110-11). The document is a memorandum sent by Judge Ronald Swanson's office with an attached letter from an inmate named Tracy Coffey. The letter, in essence, requests help from Judge Swanson as to Coffey's sentencing based on Coffey's assistance to the Grim prosecution.⁵ The memo was sent to Mr. Molchan and Spiro Kypreos (EHT. 111). Mr. Molchan stated that the letter was likely sent to him because of the reference in the letter to

⁵To be clear, Tracy Coffey did not testify against Mr. Grim at either phase of trial. Apparently, was prepared to provide jailhouse snitch testimony against Mr. Grim.

the Grim case (Id.). Mr. Kypreos was appointed by Judge Bell in this matter to represent the public interest in developing mitigation as to Mr. Grim (Id.). Mr. Molchan did not recall advising Mr. Kypreos of Coffey's status as a potential witness against Mr. Grim (EHT. 112). Mr. Molchan testified that he probably did not advise Judge Bell that Mr. Kypreos represented Coffey, a potential witness against Mr. Grim. (EHT. 113). Mr. Molchan did not make Mr. Grim's trial attorneys aware of this fact (Id.). Mr. Molchan stated that in hindsight he probably should have informed the parties of the arguable conflict, but he did not make the connection between Coffey and Mr. Kypreos (EHT. 114).

Judge Ronald Swanson testified and recalled being assigned as the Assistant State Attorney on the Grim case (EHT. 126). Judge Swanson recognized the Berkland documents in Defense Exhibit #2 and had reviewed them prior to the hearing (EHT. 127). Judge Swanson testified that he was aware of the Berkland issue while prosecuting the Grim case (EHT. 128). Judge Swanson recalled the issue being discussed at Berkland's deposition (Id.). Judge Swanson stated his belief that Toni Stitt was representing Mr. Grim at Berkland's deposition (EHT. 128-29). Judge Swanson testified that he has no recollection of disclosing the documents in Exhibit #2 to Mr. Grim's trial counsel (EHT. 129). Further, he has no knowledge that Mr.

Grim's trial attorneys were ever made aware of the information in Exhibit #2 (EHT. 140). Judge Swanson stated his belief that the documents would be something that should be disclosed to the defense (EHT. 130, 136).

Judge Swanson also identified Defense Exhibit #5 and testified that the writer of the memorandum was his judicial assistant, Joni White (EHT. 131). Judge Swanson testified that he believes the memo would have been sent to Mr. Molchan and Mr. Kypreos because they "would have an interest in the correspondence of some nature" (EHT. 132). Further, the memorandum would have been sent by Ms. White without any specific direction from Judge Swanson himself (EHT. 132). Judge Swanson did state that he recalled the name Tracy Coffey, but was not sure if the recollection was from working as an Assistant State Attorney or as a judge (EHT. 133). Judge Swanson did not recall informing Judge Bell of the facts surrounding the memorandum (EHT. 134). Judge Swanson stated that had he known about the alleged conflict, he thinks he would have informed Judge Bell (Id.).

Richard Hill testified that he was appointed by the trial court to represent Mr. Grim (EHT. 147). Hill had been with the State Attorney's Office from 1986, until he began his private practice in March, 1997 (EHT. 141). Hill began criminal-defense work in 1997 (EHT. 143). Hill testified that Mr. Grim had his own ideas of how he wanted the case handled and that Mr. Grim "basically dictated what we did" (EHT. 159). Hill did what Mr. Grim told him to do (Id.). Michael Rollo was primarily handling the penalty phase (EHT. 161). Hill and Rollo were not partners and had no informal agreement to work together (EHT. 146). Hill had never defended a capital case prior to being appointed in Mr. Grim's case (EHT. 148). Hill's first actions on the case were to review discovery and visit Mr. Grim (EHT. 152). Hill testified that he and Rollo kept their case materials separate

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