IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NORMAN MEARLE GRIM,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. SC06-122

STATE of FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CHRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

RONALD A. LATHAN, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0018477
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300
COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

For example Grim notes that experts should have looked to -and ultimately testified -- regarding the degree to which various
intoxicants in Grim's system at the time of the murder negated his
intent to commit the crime. See Appellant's Brief at 51.
According to Grim's reasoning, the failure of his attorneys to
present a voluntary intoxication defense constituted ineffective

assistance of counsel under *Strickland*. Grim takes issue with Hill and Rollo's testimony at the evidentiary hearing wherein both attorneys noted that they did not present any evidence regarding Grim's alcohol and drug consumption around the time of murder because they were acting in accordance with Grim's wishes.

This Court has recognized that a capital defendant has the right not to present mitigation evidence provided his counsel has conducted a sufficient investigation regarding potentially mitigating evidence. See Lamarca v. State, 931 So. 2d 838, 850 (Fla. 2006) (citing Koon v. Dugger, 619 So. 2d 246, 249-50 (Fla. 1993)). The burden is on Grim to establish his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. See, e.g., Holland v. State, 916 So. 2d 750, 757 (Fla. 2005) (quoting Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 985 (Fla. 2000)) ("In evaluating claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to present mitigating evidence, this Court requires that the defendant bear the burden of establishing that counsel's ineffectiveness 'deprived the defendant of a reliable penalty phase proceeding.'").

In accordance with *Koon*, this Court has mandated that a determination as to whether a capital defendant's counsel properly

⁷Given Grim's insistence on asserting his innocence, an ineffective assistance of counsel claim based on failure to pursue an voluntary intoxication defense is not cognizable. Brown v. State, 894 So. 2d 137, 146 (Fla. 2004) ("Failure to present intoxication defense cannot constitute an ineffective assistance of counsel when defendant asserts his innocence.").

investigated potential mitigation evidence first requires the defendant's counsel to affirmatively place on the record that the defendant does not wish to have mitigation presented on his behalf; concomitantly, counsel must inform what, if any, mitigation is believed to exist. Lamarca, 931 So. 2d at 850.. Thereafter, the trial court must receive assurances from the capital defendant that he has discussed the applicability of mitigation with his attorney and nevertheless still wishes to forego presenting mitigation during the penalty phase. Id. at 850-51.

Grim relies on this Court's decision in Lewis v. State, 838 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 2002) for the proposition that Rollo and Hill's failure to present mitigation evidence should be deemed invalid; because from Grim's perspective, his attorneys did not conduct a vigorous investigation regarding the existence of potentially mitigating evidence. Appellant's Brief at 53. Accordingly, Grim argues that Hill and Rollo failed to adequately prepare mitigation, which ultimately prejudiced Grim. Appellant's Brief at 54.

The State believes that Grim's arguments are belied by the transcript of his trial. To recall, when Judge Bell learned of the fact that Grim did not intend to present any mitigation evidence he engaged Grim in a formalized inquiry regarding whether Grim was knowingly and voluntarily waiving his rights. The questions asked by Judge Bell were consonant with the principles articulated by

this Court in Koon. Additionally, Grim's mitigation counsel, Michael Rollo, was required, in accordance with the requirements of Koon, to place on the record the mitigation evidence that he would have been prepared to produce had Grim been willing to allow its presentation. Rollo testified that he was prepared to call Dr. Larson as a witness who would have testified regarding the applicability of two statutory mitigators: (1) that Grim was under extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the crime; and (2) that Grim was unable to conform his conduct to the dictates of the law (TT. V. 841). Moreover, Rollo informed Judge Bell that Dr. Larson would have testified regarding Grim's relationship with his parents including: the abuse Grim suffered at the hands of his biological father, the impact of his parents' divorce, and the subsequent economic difficulties his mother endured raising Grim as single mother. Dr. Larson would have also discussed the significant external stressors that were likely affecting Grim at the time of the crime including the fact that Grim had recently become estranged from his wife, had filed for bankruptcy, and had also learned that his wife had been unfaithful (TT. V. 845).

Rollo further testified about additional mitigation witnesses that would have been called on Grim's behalf. Rollo was prepared to call Grim's employers at Daws Manufacturing Corporation who would have testified that Grim was a diligent and respected employee (TT. V. 846). Grim's mother, Isabel Flammand, was

prepared to testify that Grim was a well-behaved child. Grim's sister was also willing to testify.

Following Rollo's recitation of the litany of witnesses and evidence he was prepared to present in mitigation, Grim was thereafter asked whether he was still unwilling to present mitigation evidence. Grim affirmed that he was completely satisfied with Rollo as his counsel, but that he still did not want any mitigation evidence to be brought forth.

Grim now opines that he was denied effective assistance of counsel because his attorneys never vigorously pursued a defense involving the fact that Grim was intoxicated at the time of the commission of the crime. Similarly, Grim believes that Hill and Rollo improperly relented to Grim's desire not to present mitigation evidence; and failed to conduct a reasonable investigation as was found by this Court in Lewis v. State, 838 So. 2d 1102 (Fla. 2002).

In Lewis, this Court confronted whether a capital defendant's lawyers were constitutionally deficient because they failed to marshal substantive mitigation evidence — in reliance on Lewis's instructions to his attorneys that he did not want mitigation presented. In Lewis, the accused had asserted that he did not want to present any mitigation evidence that would have, in essence, inculpated him. This Court found that his lawyers had failed to adequately prepare mitigation irrespective of the fact that Lewis

had asserted he did not want any presented. This Court compared the hours that Lewis' lawyers spent in preparation for trial, versus the amount of time that was spent preparing mitigation evidence, and found the relative paucity of hours spent preparing Lewis' mitigation to be telling. In addition, a psychological expert who was to evaluate Lewis had not been retained until after the guilt phase had been completed; and of equal importance, the expert had only a limited time to evaluate Lewis and therefore was unable to render a full diagnosis. Lewis' mitigation counsel was also found to be constitutionally inadequate because he was not prepared to call Lewis' family members as potential mitigation witnesses if, per chance, Lewis changed his mind and decided that he wanted to present mitigation; nor had his counsel looked into Lewis' background records to determine whether substantive mitigation evidence could have been presented.

The circumstances found in Lewis are not analogous to those presented in the instant case. The only similarities between Lewis and the present case are the fact that both capital defendants insisted that they did not want mitigation evidence to be presented on their behalf. The similarities end there. Rollo, who served as Grim's mitigation counsel, diligently prepared evidence and witnesses who would have testified during the penalty phase had Grim been so willing. As noted, Rollo was prepared call Dr. Larson who would have testified regarding Grim's background. Larson had

evaluated Grim in April of 2000, more than six months before the commencement of Grim's trial. He administered a battery of psychological tests and agreed with previous findings that Grim suffered from Intermittent Explosive Disorder. Moreover, unlike in Lewis, Rollo had been in contact with, and was prepared to call Grim's family members — specifically his mother and his sister — to testify during the mitigation hearing. Accordingly, it is improper to conflate the circumstances found in Lewis, with those found in the instant case.

The circumstances found in Grim's case are more akin to those found relatively recently in Henry v. State, 2006 Fla. LEXIS 943 (Fla. May 25, 2006). In Henry, the accused had affirmatively stated that he did not want mitigation evidence presented on his behalf. In his subsequent appeals however, Henry argued that his counsel had failed, among other things, to present mitigation evidence during the penalty phase proceedings. This contention was disputed by this Court for several reasons. First, this Court recognized that Henry had presented this identical argument on direct appeal and it had been rejected. Id. at *21. This Court also determined that the circumstances presented in Henry's case were not similar to those found in Lewis given, for example, in Henry's case a mental evaluation had been conducted well before the commencement of Henry's trial, and Henry's attorneys had also retained mental competency experts. Moreover, unlike Lewis,

Henry's attorney had subpoenaed several family members to testify on his behalf in case Henry changed his mind. Thus, given the foregoing, this Court determined – as it had previously held in ruling on Henry's direct appeal – his waiver of mitigation was not constitutionally infirm, and his attorneys' representation was not ineffective. Id. at *23-25.

Similarly, this Court should find that Grim's attorney was prepared to present ample mitigation evidence on his behalf, including, inter alia, family members, former employers, and medical experts. Grim should not be permitted to have it both ways wherein on one hand he affirmatively disclaimed his right to present mitigation, yet on the other, subsequently challenges his waiver as being uninformed.

Accordingly, this Court should determine that the requirements of *Koon* were fully complied with, and Grim's waiver should be upheld.

B. JUDGE BELL SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN RECUSED

Grim also contends that his counsel should have moved to recuse Judge Bell from presiding over his criminal trial, averring that he was not impartial, and should not have been permitted to be involved in the case. Grim's averment is premised on his somewhat convoluted theory that a third-party/entity, who had been previously represented by Judge Bell in an unrelated matter, was responsible for the murder of Cynthia Campbell.

Grim sought to argue that an individual affiliated with Henry Company Homes had actually killed Campbell. Henry Company Homes is real estate company that, according to Grim, had an acrimonious litigation history with Campbell. According to Grim, Campbell had allegedly confided to an acquaintance that someone affiliated with Henry Company Homes was going to take her life.

Judge Bell informed the parties that he had previously represented Henry Company Homes while practicing in the private sector. Grim had sought to argue his theory that someone affiliated with Henry Company Homes was actually responsible for Campbell's murder, and attempted to introduce third-party hearsay statements to that effect. Judge Bell denied the introduction of such evidence on the basis that, among other reasons, a predicate foundation had not been established for introduction of the alleged statements. However, during the trial Judge Bell did permit Grim to ask investigators whether they were cognizant of these alleged statements, and whether law enforcement had investigated them.

Grim believes that Judge Bell's prior representation of Henry Company Homes was evidence, or at least gave the appearance of bias. The State in turn believes that nothing in the record substantiates Grim's claim that Judge Bell was biased against him; nor does the record suggest that Grim's attorneys were ineffective for failing to file a motion to recuse Judge Bell. Moreover, Grim's brief does not properly explain the basis for Judge Bell's

ruling wherein he did not allow the admission of third-party hearsay statements purporting to inculpate some unnamed individual.

The basis for an assertion that a judge is biased to such an extent that he must be disqualified, must not derive, or be exclusively based on the judge's particular rulings; see, e.g., Wiley v. Wainwright, 793 F.2d 1190, 1193 (11th Cir. 1986); see also McQueen v. Roye, 785 So. 2d 512, 514 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (internal quotation marks omitted) (noting that recusing a judge may, perhaps, be proper only under those circumstances where "a modicum of reason suggests that a judge's prejudice may bar a party from having his or her day in court").

It is somewhat necessary to understand the specifics of Grim's contentions. Prior to the commencement of his trial, Grim brought forth a motion seeking to introduce hearsay statements from Campbell wherein she had allegedly stated some weeks prior to her murder, that if she were ever discovered dead and floating in Pensacola Bay, a prime suspect would be someone associated with Henry Company Homes. Grim had argued that Campbell's purported statement fell with the ambit of several hearsay exceptions. The trial court disagreed and further held that even assuming arguendo Campbell's alleged statements fell within a hearsay exception, they would nevertheless be inadmissible as Grim was unable to demonstrate a causal nexus between the third party he alleged was responsible for murdering Campbell and the actual crime itself.

See, e.g., California v. Hall, 718 P. 2d 99, 104 (Cal. 1986) ("evidence of mere motive or opportunity to commit the crime [by a third] person, without more, will not suffice to raise a reasonable doubt about a defendant's guilt: there must be direct or circumstantial evidence linking the third person to the actual perpetration of the crime"); see also Cohen v. State, 581 So. 2d 926, 927 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (upholding the trial court's determination prohibiting the defendant from arguing a third party was actually culpable for the murder she was charged with "because there [was] insufficient evidence on the record to support its relevancy").

Grim now urges this Court to find that Grim's attorneys improperly failed to seek the recusal of Judge Bell; which Grim argues could have been based on the grounds that Judge Bell had previously represented Henry Company Homes. Conversely, the State contends that this ground of error is procedurally barred; but, even if this Court were permitted to properly consider this claim, it should nevertheless be deemed without merit.

To recall, during the course of the proceedings, Judge Bell informed the parties that he had previously represented Henry Homes. This Court has noted in accordance with Rule of Judicial Administration 2.160(e), Grim was required to seek the recusal of Judge Bell within 10 days of learning of the potential grounds of bias; concomitantly, under section 38.02, Fla. Stat., Grim had to

file a motion to disqualify within 30 days of learning of the basis for disqualification. See, e.g., Rodriguez v. State, 919 So. 2d 1252, 1274 (Fla. 2006); Waterhouse v. State, 792 So. 2d 1176,1193 (Fla. 2001). As the record plainly evidences, no motion was filed by Grim seeking the disqualification of Judge Bell. Grim and his attorneys were clearly aware of the alleged import of the fact Judge Bell had previously represented Henry Company Homes, but still chose not to seek the removal of him as trial judge; moreover, and most importantly, Grim never raised this issue on direct appeal, consequently he cannot now claim that his attorneys were ineffective for failing to seek the recusal of Judge Bell. See, e.g., Schwab v. State, 814 So. 2d 402, 408 (Fla. 2002) ("We have held that where the grounds for a judicial bias claim are known at the time of the original trial, yet are not raised, such claims are waived and cannot be raised in a postconviction appeal.").

Additionally, this Court has recognized that in order "[t]o warrant recusal, a motion for disqualification must concretely allege a well-founded, reasonable fear on the part of the defendant that he or she will not receive a fair trial before a particular judge." Waterhouse, 792 So. 2d at 1194 (citations omitted). The mere fact that a judge has ruled adversely to the interests of a particular defendant, will again, not serve as the basis for disqualification. Id. Moreover, a judge's previous business

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